



Rethinking Public Service Reform

The 'Public Value' Alternative

After almost thirty years of policies designed to make public services operate more like the market, this pamphlet argues we should now call time on an approach that has proved expensive, socially divisive and ineffective. Instead, policy makers should take note of the emerging approach of 'public value'. Not simply another fad or model, public value places the emphasis on users, staff and management working together to identify needs and develop strategies for improvement. Fundamentally, the public value approach can deliver something that the market-based approach has failed to deliver - real accountability of public services to users.

Research for this pamphlet was conducted by Mick McAteer.

TOUCHSTONE Pamphlets are published by the Trades Union Congress. They are not statements of TUC policy but instead are designed to inform and stimulate debate on the most pressing issues facing British policymakers. More details and full downloads of all the pamphlets can be found at:

www.tuc.org.uk/touchstonepamphlets.



Rethinking Public Service Reform

The 'Public Value' Alternative

Contents

Executive summary	3
Introduction	6
Section 1 – The problems of market-based approaches	
– What are market-based approaches?	7
 The simple and the sophisticated market-based approach 	9
The problems of market-based approaches	10
— Are market-based approaches really more productive?	12
 Public opinion and market-based approaches 	18
Section 2 – The alternative: 'public value'	20
– What is the public value approach?	20
- Why public value as a guide to reform?	22
 Enhancing the public value approach: 	24
the role of staff and the need for core principles	
- The role of public service staff in generating public value	24
 Public value and the core values of public services 	28
Conclusion	30
Notes	31

Foreword

by Brendan Barber, TUC General Secretary

It is an interesting fact that the market-based approach to public service reform is constantly presented as a new and cutting-edge solution. When we are making an honest assessment of the approach, however, we would do well to remind ourselves that successive governments have been trying to make public services behave more like the market for the last thirty years. One would have thought that the approach might have lost some its freshness, having been around since the early 1980s, but, as this pamphlet shows, its proponents have constantly reinvented the model – in large part to address its consistent failings.

One might say then that *Rethinking Public Service Reform* is a timely intervention but it might be more accurate to describe it as overdue. Whether in its earliest incarnation as compulsory competitive tendering or in its latest as user choice, the market-based approach keeps generating the same problems: high costs; compromised quality; and weakened equality. Even the more sophisticated proponents who have claimed since 1997 that quality and equity need not suffer under a market-based approach have failed to deliver on that promise.

So it is disappointing that after early indications of a rethink, Gordon Brown has signaled his Government's ongoing commitment to market solutions to public service improvement. This is doubly disappointing given that new approaches are beginning to emerge as academics, think tanks and public service managers recognise that a different style of reform is needed.

The most important of these new approaches is 'public value'. Public value is interesting not just for what it proposes as a way of achieving change but also because it has a realism and common sense at its heart that is mightily refreshing after years of excitable Whitehall wonks dreaming up yet another initiative to make a core service behave more like a supermarket.

Public value, as developed here, is fundamentally about letting the people who can really make a service better—management, staff and users—talk to each other. And most importantly it is about making management and staff accountable to the users and communities whose needs they must meet. No-one thinks this is easy and, as the pamphlet's conclusion points out, the public value approach has a long way to go if it is really to turn its aspirations into practical guidance for change. But public value is an approach that, unlike the market-based model, starts where we should always have started: forging stronger links between producers and users based on shared principles of quality and equity.

1

Market-based approaches to public service reform have been tried in a variety of forms over the last 25 years and have consistently been found wanting. It is time to embrace and develop an alternative approach: 'public value'.

Executive summary

The problems of market-based approaches

There is no single market-based approach to public service reform. Instead a variety of techniques have been used since the early 1980s to make one or other section of the public sector operate more like the free market. Nevertheless, one significant fault line runs through the history and practice of these initiatives.

In the earliest days, the market-based approach was seen primarily as a way to cut costs and improve efficiency in public service delivery. However, a more sophisticated approach has developed since the 1980s and gathered pace since Labour came to power in 1997. In this approach, market-based approaches are promoted as a way to ensure that all citizens, no matter what their wealth or status, could have access to the high quality services available to the better off and better educated.

However, one of the most telling problems of the sophisticated market-based approach is that, despite its intentions to provide universal access to quality services, it has struggled to escape the problems that beset the simple approach. Universal access and quality *have* suffered under the more sophisticated approach in much the same way as they did under the simple approach.

Many would claim that, even if the more ambitious claims made by the sophisticated approach are flawed, market-based solutions do still offer more productive public services. In fact, this pamphlet presents a wealth of general and case study evidence to show that this is not the case.

In addition, while the market-based approach has held a strong grip over the imaginations of senior policy advisors and ministers for many years now, the wider public has never warmed to the approach. Polling data shows that while citizens expect their changing needs and demands to be met by public services, they also recognise that public services are different to private sector consumer goods and they appreciate the collective nature of public services.

The alternative: 'public value'

The public value approach is based on the notion that public services, like the private sector, create value but, unlike the private sector, this value cannot be simply reduced to financial profit and loss. The approach understands the public sector as generating a wide range of beneficial outcomes including: wider economic value; social and cultural value; fairness and equity, particularly with reference to vulnerable consumers; political and democratic value by encouraging debate, participation and engagement amongst citizens; and long-term sustainability of social and economic networks.

The approach suggests that public value can only be identified and assessed through a process of democratic engagement between service providers and service users. For most public value theorists, this means the establishment of forums within which providers and users set priorities and develop strategies for public service delivery.

Public value also recognises that public services come at a very great financial cost and it acknowledges that the taxpayer is a stakeholder in any public value negotiation and value for money must be a priority.

The approach is particularly attractive because it:

- can improve the currently very low democratic legitimacy of public services
- can address the 'delivery paradox' where user satisfaction with public services tends to remain static or even decline despite the fact that objective measures show improvements in service delivery
- specifically and directly seeks to improve the responsiveness of public services to the wishes of users and citizens
- recognises that public services operate in an environment of scarce resources
 and that vast demand means that there is a need for constant and open
 deliberation and negotiation with all users because there will always be losers as
 well as winners when any particular strategy for the delivery of a service is agreed
- is not a 'one size fits all' model it recognises that creating responsiveness and productivity requires a tailored response for each service.

However, there are problems with the public value approach as currently conceived. Most public value adherents tend to underestimate the role of public sector staff in not just delivering services but providing legitimacy for public services. This is a serious oversight for two reasons.

Firstly, the emphasis of public value models on complex deliberative processes to determine what users regard as public value for a particular service overlooks the less cumbersome, more precise and practical feedback that could be provided by those staff who engage in dialogue with service users on a daily basis.

Secondly, an important aim of the public value model is to legitimise public service change in the eyes of the public by engaging them in the process of change itself. The absence of staff from public value models ignores the very clear research findings that staff are actually the most effective legitimisers of change and of public services more generally in the eyes of users. Their role must, therefore, be central if this goal is to be achieved.

A further problem is the tendency amongst some public value theorists to link the approach to market-based models. If public value theory genuinely holds that core public goods can be delivered effectively by a market-based solution, then why bother proposing the public value approach in the first place? We need only design ever more sophisticated models of market-based delivery. In this case, public value becomes little more than a desirable extra which might help improve the accountability and public acceptance of market-based solutions.

In addition, this pamphlet argues in some detail that two-and-a-half decades of experience of market-based approaches and private sector involvement shows that this is precisely not the route to efficiency, fairness and accountability. The detriment to these goals is not incidental to the market-based approach but inherent.

With these fundamental qualifications in mind, it is proposed here that the public value approach needs to be enhanced by elaborating a series of core principles:

- engagement with users to determine public service delivery strategies and implementation plans with a precise focus on identifying what public value users and the wider community want a service to generate
- · a commitment to deliberation and negotiation in identifying that public value
- a recognition that any conception of public value must involve not just what a service should deliver but also how it can be delivered in a cost- effective way
- the development of public service delivery strategies and implementation plans
 that uphold the founding principles of public services, namely: universal access;
 delivery according to need; services free at the point of use; and services delivered
 for the public good rather than for profit
- the development of public service delivery strategies and implementation plans that preserve the organisational integrity of public services and that value collaboration and integration over competition and fragmentation
- full engagement with public service staff in the determination of strategies and implementation plans
- the establishment of robust feedback mechanisms for staff and users during the implementation and delivery phase of any strategy.

Further research is undoubtedly required before a programme of public value pilots or trailblazers could be rolled out across public services in the UK. A comprehensive search for UK examples of public services that have engaged users and staff in designing delivery strategies and/or have managed to deliver highly productive and responsive services must be undertaken. This should then be followed by the establishment of a detailed set of operational principles and benchmarks for a public value approach.

Introduction

Delivering public services in Britain is big business. A recent study by Oxford Economics found that £44 billion worth of public services is now delivered by bodies outside the public sector.¹ Given the size of the market it is hardly surprising that the Confederation of British Industry regularly lobbies for public service contracts to be expanded even further.

The CBI is, of course, tasked with protecting and expanding the profits its members generate from delivering public services and their lobbying is to be expected. But policy makers should take a more objective view.

Public service delivery affects everyone in the UK and it has a particularly significant impact on UK citizens when they are often at their most vulnerable. Our leaders are, therefore, obliged to make decisions about public service delivery that will genuinely serve the public good. Inertia, dogmatism or failure to consider all alternatives must be avoided in favour of genuine evidence-based decisions – something the Government has pledged to uphold since its earliest days.

In this pamphlet the TUC argues that it is time to look to other models of change in the public services. Market-based solutions have been tried in a variety of forms over the last 25 years and have consistently been found wanting. The TUC also proposes that an alternative approach now presents itself in the form of 'public value'.

The pamphlet does this in two sections. The first details the nature and the problems of the market-based approach to public service reform. The second explores the notion of public value as a new approach to reform and suggests refinements.

Section 1 – The problems of market-based approaches

What are market-based approaches?

There is no single market-based approach to public service reform. Instead a variety of techniques have been used since the early 1980s to make one or other section of the public sector operate more like the free market. It is worth surveying these briefly here as they will inform the wider discussion throughout the pamphlet.

Compulsory Competitive Tendering (CCT)

Through the Local Government Planning and Land Act (1980) and the Local Government Act (1988) CCT became the main purchasing structure for public services, including refuse collection and street cleaning. Under CCT a local authority could only carry out certain defined activities in-house if the work had first gone out to tender and been won in open competition on the basis of lowest costs.

The aim of CCT was to try to ensure that local authority services were provided efficiently by encouraging competition between alternative service providers. However, because the criteria by which competing tenders were judged was purely cost based, the approach cut prices but it did not necessarily produce adequate public service outcomes. For example, in school catering, quality and nutrition fell to such an extent that contracts had to be renegotiated in the interests of pupils' health.

Market testing

In 1992 the Government introduced a programme of market testing in the civil service for central government public services. Market testing subjected central government public services to competition in a process similar to CCT. Services were tested for their efficiency by exposing them to the cost and quality of private providers. This policy was not pursued across government as a whole and was short-lived, with other initiatives such as Private Finance Initiatives (PFI) given greater prominence. It has been used by the Labour Government in various sectors where public provision was perceived to be failing, and is intended to provide an incentive to produce a better service.

Quasi-markets

The UK Government has been at the forefront of the introduction of quasi-market reforms, introducing them into healthcare, education, and housing amongst other services. In the NHS, competitive internal markets have been introduced, abolished and reintroduced.

In 1991 the Conservative administration introduced the 'internal market' in the NHS, introducing competition by dividing the service into a set of purchasers and a set of providers. Healthcare services could be provided by public and private suppliers who competed for contracts decided by the purchasers.

The reform also attempted to introduce some quality measures rather than just cost into the assessment of tenders. For example, explicit objectives about the incidence of ill health were included in tendering processes. But cost remained a primary goal. Purchasers were still expected to seek efficiency improvements each year based on a reduction in unit costs.

The incoming Labour Government abolished the internal market policy for the NHS in 1997, stressing the role of co-operation over competition based on price.

However, over the last three years, the Government has introduced a new funding regime, Payment by Results, with payment based on volume of activity at a nationally agreed tariff. The intention of this payment system is that service providers are motivated to expand services since they get paid according to their level of activity. These changes, plus the introduction of a new commissioner and provider split in the NHS, effectively re-introduced the internal market in the NHS from the mid-2000s. A commissioner and provider split has also been introduced to the criminal justice system, probation service and prisons over a similar period.

Best Value

The Best Value initiative was introduced in April 2000 as a comprehensive replacement for CCT. Best Value seeks to remedy the shortcomings of the CCT approach, based on lowest costs, by considering value for money and service to citizens. To do this, Best Value procurement takes into account quality, service, training and after-sales care alongside cost. This approach also seeks to identify the most suitable partners to deliver a high quality of service, and aims to give local authorities incentives to establish partnerships with the voluntary and private sectors to deliver public services.

The Audit Commission carries out regular inspections of services to ensure that best value is being achieved. Each council is given a star rating depending on how it performs. If councils fail to demonstrate best value they could be forced to switch control of their services to other providers.

Best Value is now so commonly used and established that a market-based approach is effectively hard-wired into many public services, particularly those provided by local authorities. In effect, any number of services, can now be subject to contestability and could be contracted out to a non-public sector provider.

Private Finance Initiative (PFI) and PPP (Public Private Partnership)

PFI and PPP are partnerships between the public and private sectors to provide public services. In 1992 the PFI was introduced as a system for providing capital assets for the provision of public services, for example roads, prisons, hospitals and schools. Under PFI, the private sector uses its capital to design, build and maintain capital assets on behalf of the public sector. The public purse then pays back the capital costs plus other costs over an agreed period.

The intention is that by putting its own capital at risk, the private sector delivers public services on time and to budget.

In 1997, the Labour Government developed this model further, as Public Private Partnerships. PPPs are a way to provide public services, for example in health and education, funded and operated through a partnership of government and one or more private sector companies and sometimes also voluntary sector bodies. For example, in 2000, City Academies were announced with buildings and equipment funded partly by companies and voluntary organisations such as the Church of England. PFI has also been expanded considerably under Labour as a means of building and maintaining capital infrastructure.

Individual user choice

The market-based approaches to public service provision applied prior to 2004 mainly excluded the element of free choice of service or supplier for the service user. However, 'individual user choice' began to be introduced in the health service from 2004, and from 2006 patients were given a choice of four alternative providers of secondary health care under the Choose and Book initiative. Since the mid-1990s there have been a series of initiatives to enhance and widen parental choice over schooling. These ranged from the nursery vouchers scheme launched by John Major to the establishment of specialist schools under Tony Blair.

The simple and the sophisticated market-based approach

As even this brief survey shows, market-based approaches are far from uniform. Indeed one particular fault line runs through the history and practice of these initiatives. In the earliest days, the market-based approach was seen primarily as a way to cut costs and improve efficiency in public service delivery. The disciplines of the market were seen as the most effective way to encourage public service managers to deliver services cheaply as it was clear, at least theoretically, that such pressures constantly exist for companies operating in the free market. This *simple* market-based approach was clearly the driver behind CCT. However, it was soon clear that the use of simple cost and efficiency measurements were undermining the quality of public service delivery. By the next phase of the implementation of market-based approaches, in the form of the introduction of the internal market to the NHS, a stronger emphasis was placed on quality as well as cost when decisions were being made about the tendering of service delivery contracts to competing providers. However, under CCT, market testing and the earlier internal NHS market, cost and efficiency remained the key drivers of reform.

By the time Tony Blair's Government turned its attention to public service reform, market-based approaches were being proposed as not only compatible with quality as well as cost but also as an even better guarantor than in-house delivery of the founding principles of public service in the UK, namely equity and universal access to education, healthcare and a decent livelihood. Thus Best Value, PFI, PPP, and individual user choice were regularly promoted by ministers as a way to ensure that all citizens, no matter what their wealth or status, could have access to the high quality services which the better-off and better educated either bought for themselves privately or which they extracted from the public sector by virtue of their greater mobility, knowledge, social skills and personal contacts. In short, the British public were now being told that market-based approaches would deliver on cost, efficiency, quality and equity. This more sophisticated market-based approach was certainly more resonant and politically effective than the simple approach but it claimed a very great deal for a solution which had experienced a number of difficulties in the past, as detailed below.

The problems of market-based approaches

The simple market-based approach has proved highly problematic and has been largely rejected in theory.

The underlying belief of the simple approach is that the provision of health, pensions, education and other services ought to be treated no differently to consumer goods. Public providers should simply seek to provide their services as cheaply as possible. The slightly more sophisticated version of this, introduced by John Major's Government, recognised that this principle could not mean that services were provided so cheaply that quality was fundamentally undermined. Even in the private sector, of course, the market will only withstand a certain loss of quality before customers will seek other providers if they can afford to.

Fundamentally, the approach overlooked the fact that public services are not discretionary commoditised goods but are core-welfare or public goods. In this case, market principles cannot be applied for a number of reasons.

Citizens generally have rights to core welfare goods such as pensions, healthcare, education, and decent food quality. These goods meet basic human needs. Provision of core welfare goods represent a basic standard of living or quality of life in a decent society – these are not discretionary goods akin to many of the products purchased in the free market. As such, the consequences of a failure to deliver quality corewelfare goods are much greater than in discretionary goods markets. In addition, poor decisions by the commissioners or providers of a service affect not just the individual involved but others as well (taxpayers, for example).

Furthermore, and critically, in private sector market systems resources tend to be allocated to activities which generate the highest economic rate of return for investors, either because they are cheap to provide and/or because the market will bear a high charge for a service or good. This was a principle which the simple market-based approach hoped to replicate in public service delivery. But when it comes to delivering core-welfare goods – where fairness and rights are defining characteristics – it is an established principle that resources should be allocated to areas of greatest need rather than determined by financial return. By encouraging commissioners and providers to take decisions about service delivery based purely on a cost and return basis – or with only a limited emphasis on quality – the simple market-based approach fundamentally undermined the founding principles of the UK's public services and was revised wholesale in the wake of the Labour victory in 1997, as explained above, giving rise to the more sophisticated approach.

However, a telling problem of this sophisticated market-based approach is that, despite its intentions to provide universal access to quality services, it has struggled to escape the problems that beset the simple approach.

For example, in education, it has become increasingly clear that the emphasis on parental choice has led to instances of the polarisation in the quality of local schools with better resourced parents gaining easier access to good schools than less well resourced parents². In health, the introduction of Independent Sector Treatment Centres (ISTCs) has led to 'cherry picking', whereby new and speedy ISTCs have selected patients with easy to treat ailments leaving chronic and expensive ailments to mainstream public hospitals (see page 13). And in local government, there are

regular reports of Best Value tendering processes being decided on cost rather than the wider criteria that were supposed to replace the problems of the earlier CCT.

To a certain extent, the failures of the more sophisticated approach should not come as a great surprise. A much earlier serious failure of a market-based approach to the delivery of a public service had begun to reveal itself during the 1990s. This was the pensions mis-selling scandal of the 1980s which bore a close resemblance to later sophisticated market-based approaches in that it promised not just greater efficiency and savings for the state but also a more accessible and responsive service to users that would improve the pensions of poorer members of society who would otherwise be reliant on less generous state schemes.

During the 1980s huge numbers of people were wrongly advised to transfer out of their employers' pension scheme into personal pensions, thereby missing out on valuable employers' pension contributions and other benefits. Millions also contracted out of the state run second pension scheme (known as SERPS) into personal pensions, again often on the basis of misleading advice.

The cost and consequences of this ill-fated policy were staggering and the effects are still being felt in the collapse of confidence in the pension system today.

According to the consumer group Which?, over 70 per cent of the people who contracted out of SERPS into a personal pension (an estimated 4.5 million) look likely to get less than they would have done had they stayed in the scheme. Since 1988, the Government has handed over a staggering £35 billion of taxpayers' money to the pensions industry to invest on behalf of these people who were advised to opt into a personal pension. Yet huge sums were wasted on commission and charges to no real positive benefit for consumers or taxpayers.

The marketisation of pension provision was not just seen as an economic decision — but as a defining philosophy for the government of the day. It represented a major attempt to transfer risk and responsibility away from the state and employers to the individual. It was a concerted effort to move away from the collective approach to providing pensions and sharing of risk to a more individualised approach. Personal pensions were trumpeted as a way of liberating employees from the 'shackles' of paternalistic, inflexible employer and state pension schemes.

Thankfully, in this case the limitations of the individualised market model, and the advantages of the collective approach, have now been recognised through the Government's acceptance of the need for a new national pension scheme (in the form of Personal Accounts, announced in 2006 and due to become available in 2012) — even if it took nearly 20 years to come, at great cost to current and future generations of citizens.

Despite the fact that the marketisation of pensions provision reproduced many of the failings of the simple market-based approach, the proponents of the sophisticated version still went on to claim that equity and quality could be delivered alongside cost and efficiency for a variety of other services if the market was introduced into their delivery. Unfortunately failure to acknowledge the 'bigger picture' problems of the approach has been an ongoing trait of those urging market-based solutions.

The approach's adherents always claim counter evidence to explain why one or other scheme is not proving as problematic as is claimed³. Failing that, they will claim that

particular schemes have not been implemented correctly or fully⁴. However, over time, a pattern has emerged which is now overriding any dispute about individual services or individual initiatives. It is a pattern of market-based approaches failing to deliver on their promises. This is because market mechanisms always seem to encourage service commissioners to over-emphasise cost and return at the expense of quality and equity – no matter what counter-mechanisms are put in place. It is also because the aggregate outcomes of the mass of individual choices of service users or commissioners of services are very difficult to control and often lead to iniquitous or undesirable results.

Even if new mechanisms and approaches could now be invented to redress these problems, it seems unlikely they would be implemented. As we enter a period of much more restrained public spending, which for some service areas will amount to spending cuts, the opportunity for elaborate and expensive extras such as greater regulation of commissioners or advice and information support to individual users also seem to be coming to an end. Under such restrictions, it is highly likely that any greater roll-out of a market-based approach would only lead to an exacerbation of the already noted problems.

Are market-based approaches really more productive?

Leaving aside the more ambitious claims made by adherents of the sophisticated market-based approach, many would argue that it offers a cheaper, more efficient and hence more productive set of public services than their in-house alternative. In particular, it is claimed that the introduction of competition between public and private providers or, in some cases, just between private providers for the favour of service commissioners or of individual users will drive down costs. In fact, there is now a wealth of evidence that this is not the case.

Assessing or measuring productivity and effectiveness in public services is fraught with methodological difficulties. There is no precise definition of public sector productivity. But if the success or failure of competing models in delivering public services is to be evaluated objectively then it should incorporate effectiveness in terms of outcomes as well as basic cost-efficiency. Alternative methodologies capture the intrinsic nature of public services – for example, the 'gross value added' method⁵. In Australia, health sector productivity as measured by the existing 'input' method was estimated to have grown by 1.6 per cent a year from 1993 - 2000. Using the gross value added method the figure improves to 4 per cent a year⁶.

However, even on a narrower definition of productivity, the empirical evidence leaves market-based approaches wanting. This is, in some part, because of the rarely acknowledged funding advantages that the public sector has over the private sector. There are two sides to this advantage: firstly, the public sector benefits from availability of capital at a lower cost, i.e. because of the risk premium the private sector has to pay in comparison to government-backed financing; and secondly, private sector organisations have a primary duty to maximise shareholder returns which can take the form of dividends and/or capital appreciation. The cost of meeting the financial expectations of shareholders must therefore be built into any overall funding costs.

Indeed, there are a number of examples in the UK which suggest that private sector funding mechanisms such as Private Finance Initiatives (PFI) and Public Private Partnerships (PPP) have been more expensive than publicly financed projects.

A sample of PFI schemes (excluding NHS projects) concluded that the current weighted average cost of private sector capital on PFI projects is 1-3 percentage points higher than public sector borrowing⁷. Another analysis of a sample of projects found that PFI/PPP financing was 11.2-18.5 per cent of the project costs compared to 3.0-3.5 per cent annual interest on publicly financed projects⁸. Audit Scotland has estimated that PFI costs add £0.2-£0.3m each year for every £10m invested⁹.

However, the attractiveness of PFI for Government remains strong because it takes the large debts involved off the Government's immediate public sector balance sheet as the initial capital outlay comes from the private rather than the public sector. This allows the Treasury to meet its self-imposed borrowing limits.

But unlike the immediate debt, PFI does not transfer risk to the private sector. The taxpayer must still underwrite PFI projects because essential public services cannot be allowed to collapse. The taxpayer has already had to bail out private contractors running Railtrack, the Benefits Agency, Air Traffic Control, and the Criminal Records Bureau.

Of course, the extra costs of private sector delivery of public services would not matter if the private sector could deliver efficiency gains to offset costs.

Yet the available empirical evidence suggests that in practice when it comes to critical core public services the private sector is not more efficient than the public sector. Moreover, the involvement of the private sector can undermine efforts to integrate services, further limiting efficiency gains.

A clear example of the damage done to public service efficiency by private sector involvement is the recent initiative to direct patients to Independent Sector Treatment Centres (ISTCs). The Department of Health Select Committee report published in 2005 raised serious concerns about the expansion of the use of ISTCs¹⁰. The Committee concluded that ISTCs have not made a major direct contribution to increasing capacity. The Committee also concluded that NHS Treatment Centres and other parts of the NHS were just as innovative, and that ISTCs were not necessarily more efficient than NHS Treatment Centres.

The professional medical bodies that gave evidence to the Committee warned that the removal of a great deal of relatively straightforward elective surgery to an environment divorced from mainstream NHS services resulted in clinicians being denied vital experience of so-called 'bread-and-butter' procedures during their training. The Royal College of Surgeons informed the Committee that there was evidence to show that the training of surgeons in NHS hospitals adjacent to ISTCs had suffered. The Committee concluded that even though ISTCs performed a relatively small number of procedures, there can be a significant local effect on the training of junior doctors.

Professional medical bodies raised a number of other concerns about the poor integration of the ISTC programme into the NHS. The Committee concluded that these concerns were well-founded and better integration could be achieved by greater use of in-house NHS Treatment Centres.

A further salutary case study of how efficiency can be driven down by the dominance of the private sector and a market approach in the provision of a public service can be found in the social care sector.

Providing social care is one of the greatest public challenges facing society. Decisions on how care should be provided can have a significant impact on the well-being and dignity of some of the most vulnerable in society.

Increasingly, social care services are being delivered by the so-called 'independent' sector. There are an estimated 400,000 employees working in the private care homes sector. Many of the front line carers are paid the National Minimum Wage, which provides an annual salary of approximately £10,000 pa. This compares with the lowest rate for a Care Assistant employed by a local authority of £14,000. This suggests that any perceived efficiency gains are derived mainly from paring wage bills. This can clearly affect continuity of care by increasing staff turnover.

This is upheld by evidence from the UK and US that suggests that private, for-profit providers do not provide better quality, integrated care than public providers. A Commission for Social Care Inspection (CSCI) report found that when it came to providing care for older people in care homes, and home care services, private sector providers were more likely not to meet minimum national standards¹¹.

Public providers have shown themselves to be flexible and responsive, as the experience of South Lanarkshire shows. It provides 24-hour services and has focused on offering flexible training and skills for their staff.

An analysis of the 13,941 nursing homes in the US¹² found that for-profit owned (investor) nursing homes provide worse care and less nursing care than not-for-profit or public homes. Investor-owned facilities averaged 6.70 deficiencies (measured against quality of care and quality of life) per home. This figure was found to be 29.8 per cent higher than not-for-profit homes and 25.2 per cent higher than public facilities.

Decent home care services are important in ensuring that people can remain in their homes. But unions have been concerned that, in reality, funding pressures mean that home care services are becoming ever more tightly rationed and there has been a relentless focus on delivering more 'units' of homecare for lower costs.

The historic underfunding of social care means that local authorities now struggle to meet demand that is rising due to demographic trends, increasing complexity of need and medical advances. Research conducted by the CSCI shows that 73 per cent of councils already have to restrict services to people whose needs are assessed as critical or substantial¹³. This rationing results from a £1.77bn shortfall in social care funding identified by the LGA. This trend is set to continue which means that people with low and moderate needs will no longer be able to receive home care services, which could prevent them accelerating into higher levels of need.

These funding pressures have driven decisions by local authorities about provision of home care. This has led to a focus on cost considerations, with escalating privatisation at the expense of service quality. The recent report by the Commission for Social Care Inspection (CSCI) *Time to Care* painted an alarming picture of the quality of home care service older people face¹⁴. Increasingly, the experience is

one of rushed services, with too little time allowed to provide quality, personalised care. This undermines continuity of care as well as inhibiting proper relationships forming between care workers and the people they care for.

The report also notes that the home-care sector is in a prolonged state of flux, still reliant on small private providers and struggling to compete for low-paid workers within the retail and catering industries, with staff turnover estimated at up to 36 per cent, further damaging continuity of care.

Residual in-house home-care services increasingly specialise in more complex and intensive provision, while a 'cottage industry' of private providers provide the bulk of home-care, with competition based on squeezing contact time and not paying staff for travelling time. This means that cost comparisons between in-house services and the private sector are skewed. Despite this such comparisons continue to be used to justify further outsourcing.

Moreover, the cottage industry approach identified by the CSCI results in instability, fragmentation and downward pressure on service quality. The 'market' is characterised by small providers, many of whom are inexperienced at running their own business and there are a significant number of entries and exits each year. And, of course, as with the case of many public services, private sector providers can concentrate on less difficult cases. This in turn further skews comparisons between public and private sector 'efficiency'.

Furthermore, as the recent Court of Appeal decision relating to the application of Human Rights Act to private care homes found, vulnerable people lost important protections if they are looked after by private sector homes.

In short, no matter how sophisticated the theorists of the market-based approach may have become in claiming that public service markets can deliver quality and equity, the real life experience of their operation is of cost and efficiency always becoming the primary concern – ultimately at the expense of quality and equity.

By contrast, studies of in-house services which focus on user demands and use innovative thinking resulting from collaboration between service providers and users — in a way not dissimilar to that recommended by the public value model outlined in the next section — show how super-efficiency can be combined with an ongoing and unequivocal focus on core public service values. NHS Direct is a case in point.

NHS Direct is one of the most popular health reforms of recent times and shows how major public sector health services (not just local health services) can be flexible, innovative, and responsive.

NHS Direct is a nurse-led, telephone-based, interactive health service. It started life in 1997, and since then major changes have been introduced to complement the telephone-based service, and take advantage of modern communication techniques.

NHS Direct has an authoritative health website, and 2004 saw the addition of the NHS Direct digital TV service – one of the largest interactive services in the UK.

Its performance is impressive. NHS Direct recorded its best ever performance in June 2007, exceeding all of the targets set by the Department of Health. The targets cover access, response times, and clinical sorting (where patients are given appropriate advice and signposting to other health services if needed).

According to the most recent surveys, NHS Direct answered 467,000 calls in June 2007. Ninety-eight per cent were answered within 60 seconds – breaking the 95 per cent target set by the Department of Health. Of those calls, NHS Direct completed 48 per cent of them without onward referral to another healthcare professional (the target is 38 per cent).

Of the urgent calls 98 per cent were triaged within 20 minutes – the target is 95 per cent; 100 per cent of those requiring triage within 60 minutes and 240 minutes were also dealt with within the required timescales set by the Department of Health.

Further evidence of in-house efficiency can be found within the Department of Work and Pensions (DWP).

Analysis of provision of employment-related services undertaken by the DWP¹⁵ shows that public services can be more effective and responsive than the private sector when allowed the same flexibilities to innovate and the same funding as private sector companies or charitable organisations.

A government report focused on Jobcentre Plus Action Teams ¹⁶. These were established in 2000 to work closely with local communities in usually quite small areas that had been blighted by long-term unemployment and which had not been receptive to other strategies.

The report shows that Action Teams have been highly effective in helping people find jobs. Between April 2004 and March 2005, Action Teams, as a whole, helped over 27,000 clients into work. Just over 8,800 of these job entries were through private sector-led (PSL) teams, and nearly 18,400 were via Jobcentre Plus Action Teams. In terms of achieving job entry targets, there were differences between Jobcentre Plus Action Teams and PSL teams. Action Teams achieved 111 per cent of their job entry targets compared to PSL teams as a whole achieving 78 per cent.

Action Teams have been innovative in both their design and delivery. In terms of design, they were the first initiative to target local pockets of unemployment and were ultimately free to operate in the wards of their choice. This allowed teams to move into areas they knew had pockets of deprivation, even where these pockets were located within more affluent wards.

Action Teams have been innovative by being located away from the Jobcentre Plus mainstream and using outreach (including mobile units, sessional outreach with community partners, and co-locating with partners) to reach their target groups and deliver services. They were able to use advisers seconded from community organisations who bring different skills and experience to the team. They could also decide their own marketing measures and use their own branding.

Teams could be innovative in their strategy to link up with organisations from the local community, and most work with a wide range of partners. Partnerships have proved to be beneficial as they can cross-refer clients, joint fund courses/training/events, offer specialist help when needed, share premises and, therefore, costs, and have an all-round knowledge of provision in the area.

One further case study of an efficient in-house service relates to the vital area of reducing road traffic accidents.

UK transport authorities have managed to achieve a significant reduction in the number of people killed or seriously injured on the UK's roads, making great progress against long-term targets. Much of this has been achieved by focusing relentlessly on meeting public expectations, developing innovative strategies that are evidenceled and entirely pragmatic, and working closely with local communities.

In 2000, the Government published a safety strategy in *Tomorrow's Roads Safer for Everyone*. By 2010, the aim is to achieve, compared with the average for 1994-98:

- a 40 per cent reduction in the number of people killed or seriously injured (KSI) in road accidents
- a 50 per cent reduction in the number of children killed or seriously injured (children are defined as being those aged under 16)
- a 10 per cent reduction in the slight casualty rate, expressed as the number of people slightly injured per 100 million vehicle kilometres.

By 2006, two of these targets had already been exceeded and another was close to being met:

- The number of people killed or seriously injured has fallen by 33 per cent.
- The number of children killed or seriously injured was 52 per cent down.
- The slight casualty rate was 28 per cent below the baseline.

These achievements are even more impressive when they are set against the fact that in this period traffic density has risen by an estimated 15 per cent.

This is also an example of how public services deliver value for the wider economy as well. Although it is impossible to put a real value on the life of a loved one, fatalities and injuries result in huge costs for the economy. For example, 2,913 fatal accidents, 25,029 serious accidents and 170,793 slight accidents were reported in 2005. In cost-benefit terms the Department for Transport estimates that if these 198,735 injury accidents had been prevented the economy would have saved £12,807million (in 2005 prices and values).

The success in reducing road deaths and injuries is down to a combination of demanding targets, along with innovation at local level, and sharing of best practice. The Department for Transport worked with a number of local highway authorities on a range of Demonstration and Partnership Projects to show how solutions to complex local road safety problems could be found. Projects were evaluated and the lessons learnt were used to produce good practice guidance for authorities wishing to tackle similar problems in their local areas.

A good example of how a strategic, coherent approach delivers real benefits can be found in the Gloucester Safer City project. The project began in April 1996 and ran for five years until March 2001. Its main aim was to reduce road casualties in the city by at least one third by April 2002 (compared to the baseline average for 1991-95). A road hierarchy was developed and a range of traffic engineering techniques were used to manage traffic onto the most appropriate roads, and travelling at appropriate speeds. Education, training and publicity campaigns and the Safer City branding complemented the approach and raised the community's

awareness of road safety issues. Over the five-year project casualties in Gloucester were reduced by around 24 per cent, with the number killed and seriously injured reduced by 48 per cent.

Good practice can be spread using this coordinated approach. Beacon status for road safety was awarded to six local authorities in 2006. These authorities showed how their effectiveness can be maximised by forming real partnerships with agencies to reduce road casualties and improve the quality of life for local people. Critical to their success is an approach that is: evidence-led, identifies problems and tailors appropriate solutions, fully involves local communities in the development of their road safety work, monitors progress and uses innovative approaches where appropriate. These authorities have been supporting others to learn and share their good practice in a range of ways, including running courses and holding open days. It could be said that these authorities have been operating to some of the key tenets of public value principles (discussed in the next section) without necessarily employing such a term.

Thus the evidence that introducing market-like competition into public service delivery must necessarily drive down costs and improve efficiency in a way that is unachievable in-house seems unsustainable in the light of this general and case study evidence.

Public opinion and market-based approaches

If after 25 years of variable outcomes from the market-based approach is not enough to effect a change of policy, then one must wonder what exactly could. Possibly the polls.

It is interesting that while the market-based approach has held a strong grip over the imaginations of senior policy advisors and ministers for many years now, the wider public has never warmed to the approach.

Polling data shows that while citizens expect their changing needs and demands to be met by public services, they also recognise that public services are different to private sector consumer goods and they appreciate the collective nature of public services.

One YouGov survey found that 73 per cent of voters disagreed or strongly disagreed with more competition within the NHS, while another survey found that 89 per cent of the public thought that "public services should be run by the Government or local authorities, rather than by private companies" This was confirmed by another poll which found that only 17 per cent supported an increased role for private companies in public services.

Recent research published in May 2007 by the Picker Institute for the Health Care Commission found that giving people the right to choose between NHS hospitals in England is regarded by most patients as irrelevant¹⁹.

The public also remains overwhelmingly committed to the core values of public services: universality, equity and accountability. Research conducted by The Work Foundation found that 85 per cent agree that public services should be funded by the taxpayer and free at the point of use. Only 34 per cent agree strongly or tend to

agree that what matters is the quality of services in their local area and that they are not interested in what is happening elsewhere. Sixty per cent tend to disagree or strongly disagree with this view²⁰.

However, the adherents of the market-based approach have been right on one thing. One further argument made in favour of these approaches, is that they respond to the strong desire for public service users to be treated more like consumers. A Work Foundation study found that 81 per cent wanted public services to start treating users as consumers, and 79 per cent wanted public services to treat them more like the private sector²¹.

This suggests that a politician who could develop an approach to public service reform that offers greater flexibility and responsiveness to service users but avoids the mistaken nostrums of market-based approaches would find themselves far more in tune with public opinion.

This provides the context for a newer approach to public service reform known as 'public value', which has been growing in influence over the last two to three years. Public value has yet to filter into the mainstream of political discourse in the UK but if a politician is looking for a coherent alternative to the market-based approaches which is more in line with public expectations, public value might be the solution.

Section 2 – The alternative: public value

What is the 'public value' approach?

The public value approach was first developed in the 1990s by Mark Moore at the Kennedy School of Government²². More recently it has been taken up in the UK by John Bennington at the Warwick Business School²³ and by the think tank The Work Foundation²⁴.

This new approach is based on the notion that public services, like the private sector, create value but, unlike the private sector, this value cannot be simply reduced to financial profit and loss in the way it usually is by commercial organisations. The value that is created by public services is more complex and often less tangible than that created in the private sector. It includes such factors as:

- · wider economic value
- · social and cultural value
- fairness and equity, particularly with reference to vulnerable consumers and different generations
- political and democratic value by encouraging debate, participation and engagement amongst citizens; and
- · long-term sustainability of social and economic networks.

While commercial organisations ultimately assess their value and plan strategies with reference to the relatively simple measures of profit and loss, public value cannot be planned for or assessed so easily. For example, which aspects of public value to prioritise in any strategy is very commonly a matter of dispute. One need only think of the fierce arguments that accompany any decision taken by the National Institute of Clinical Excellence over resource allocations to different healthcare priorities or the protests that greet decisions by local authorities over whether to spend money on youth facilities or social care, for example.

As such, the model suggests that public value can only be identified and assessed through a process of democratic engagement between service providers and service users. For most public value theorists, this means the establishment of forums within which providers and users set priorities and develop strategies for public service delivery. As The Work Foundation has noted²⁵, the public value model reinstates citizenship at the heart of public services.

This emphasis on 'negotiation' with key stakeholders in the creation of public value means that the model is more balanced and comprehensive than market-based approaches. It acknowledges that the development of any strategy for public service delivery will as a matter of course have to:

- balance the interests of the public realm and the market
- consider individuals to be citizens, not just consumers, and thus balance the interests of communities and individuals
- consider wider social concerns, not just narrow financial concerns.

However, the public value model is not naive and idealistic. It recognises that public services come at a very great financial cost. It acknowledges that the taxpayer is a stakeholder in any public value negotiation, and also that value for money must be a priority. Indeed, public value theorists have gone so far as to specifically define public value as the provision of public services to a community in a way determined by that community but in as cost efficient a way as possible²⁶.

Substantial examples of public value initiatives in the UK are rare. This is unsurprising given the fact that this is a relatively new approach which has only just begun to win significant attention on both sides of the Atlantic. The Work Foundation has undertaken small projects to develop the notion of public value in the heritage and culture sectors²⁷ but mostly we must rely on initiatives which display elements of the public value approach even if they would not explicitly describe themselves as based on that approach. A number of these are described below.

However, one initiative it is worth mentioning here as a practical illustration of how innovative and effective a public value-style approach can be is the Advanced School Councils project undertaken by School Councils UK and endorsed by the National Union of Teachers, amongst others²⁸. The project worked in eight secondary schools over a three-year period to encourage pupils and staff to take forward a range of issues on pupil participation. In association with staff, pupils created their own behaviour panels, researched a range of school-based matters and established 'sub-councils' to deal with specific issues such as improving the school environment.

The public value element of the project can be seen in the way a behaviour panel worked. Pupils used the panel to help staff formulate behaviour policy for the school, became integral to the implementation of policy by establishing peer mediation schemes for disruptive pupils and then spread their experience to other parts of the sector by holding good practice workshops with other schools.

The project found that the initiatives it undertook had a positive impact on the workings of the schools and, hence, on the wider public value those schools were able to deliver. Sixty-five per cent of teachers felt that teaching and learning had improved, 66 per cent felt relationships between pupils had improved and 71 per cent felt decision-making in the school was better.

Although the Advanced School Councils project did not describe itself as based on a public value approach, it clearly displays strong elements of the approach. It involved service users and providers deliberating together to identify strategic priorities, to develop and support innovative implementation plans for those priorities, and then engaged in ongoing feedback with those involved in the scheme and wider stakeholders to develop strategies and implementation further. Notably, given the recognition of

public value adherents that difficult negotiation is integral to their approach, the Advanced School Councils project sometimes involved certain pupil wishes being compromised or denied for reasons of resource or because they conflicted with other priorities and principles.

Why public value as a guide to reform?

The Work Foundation has identified three reasons why public value should be considered as a guide to reform in the public services²⁹.

Firstly, public value can play a role in addressing the 'democratic deficit' that exists in public services and, indeed, in the wider political establishment. The notion that the legitimacy of the decisions taken by public service professionals is constantly under stress has been identified by the Work Foundation's own research but it will not be news to anyone who works in public service delivery. The emphasis the public value approach places on democratic engagement and deliberation between public service decision makers and users is seen as a very direct way of addressing this problem.

Secondly, the approach provides a response to the so-called 'delivery paradox'. This is the well documented phenomena where user satisfaction with public services tends to remain static or even decline despite the fact that objective measures show improvements in service delivery. The case of the significant shortening of waiting times in the NHS alongside the stubborn levels of low satisfaction with the service is the best known example of this paradox.

The Work Foundation suggests two key reasons for the paradox. Market-based approaches have focused almost exclusively on treating users as consumers. While polling does show (as shown above) that users do want to be treated more like consumers, this does not preclude the fact that they also want to be treated as citizens. Put simply, this means that service users do not just want satisfaction from the service provided at the point of delivery but also expect some degree of influence over what is being provided. This degree of influence is something the public value approach aims to offer users.

In addition, users' dissatisfaction may result from genuine ignorance of service improvements or from misinformation about the service. However, the solution to this is not simply better public relations but a concerted attempt to involve users in the decisions about service delivery that are, of necessity, informed by consideration of more objective information. For example, innovations such as the Open Budget deliberation held by the London Borough of Harrow which involved 300 local citizens in a budget-setting forum were informed by a detailed account of how councils raise and spend revenue³⁰. It is notable that many participants expressed surprise when told that only 25 per cent of council revenue came from Council Tax, given the emphasis that is placed on this source in vociferous political debate.

Thirdly, The Work Foundation urges public value as an approach because it specifically seeks to improve the responsiveness of public services to the wishes of users and citizens. It might be added here that it does this in a very direct and relatively uncomplicated way — it asks what users want and then tries to agree strategies and techniques to deliver that. In principle, it avoids the much greater complexity introduced by the market-based approach to encouraging responsiveness which by

emphasising contestability and the role of the private sector introduces a whole range of other factors – some of which have been dealt with above – which only seem ultimately to become barriers to responsiveness.

To these arguments in favour of public value developed by The Work Foundation we might add two more.

Public value is refreshingly non-utopian. The recognition that public services operate in an environment of scarce resources but vast demand means that there is a need for constant and open deliberation and negotiation with all users. It also means that there will always be losers as well as winners (or at best only partial satisfaction of everyone's demands) when any particular strategy for the delivery of a service is agreed. This is not to say that public value is not ambitious for improvements in services provided – indeed the seminal work on public value by Mark Moore is full of examples of how public services in America have been improved significantly through deliberation between providers and users about common sense changes and more elaborate innovations³¹. However, it marks a break with the evangelism of the market-based approaches which, particularly in recent years, have led politicians to make ever-greater guarantees of choice for individual users without any recognition that choice will inevitably be constrained by scarce resources.

Furthermore, public value is not a 'one size fits all' model. It recognises that creating responsiveness and productivity requires a tailored response for each service. Public value is really little more than a way of conceptualising what it is public services should be doing and proposing a deliberative process by which providers and users can determine how to add detail to that conceptualisation. The market-based approach – for all its diversity – fundamentally asserts that all or nearly all services can be improved by mimicking the market. Market-based approaches are, in truth, ideological as much as evidence-based solutions to public service problems – unsurprising maybe given their origin during the height of the New Right backlash against the post-war consensus. In this sense, market-based approaches are far less in line than public value approaches with the contemporary recognition that large organisations can rarely be improved by the application of single models and are more likely to flourish under conditions that allow autonomy for local or sectoral providers to develop a diversity of solutions best suited to the details of their specific environment.

Public value therefore offers a variety of advantages over the market-based approach and policy makers would do well to study these. However, it does have one serious flaw and one risk which need to be addressed if the model is to prove successful in its implementation.

Enhancing the public value approach: the role of staff and the need for core principles

One of the key limitations of existing public value models is that they underestimate the role of public sector staff – not just in delivering services, but also in providing legitimacy for public services. In addition, because the public value model is quite an open approach which is about conceptualisation and process rather than models, it can and has been linked to continuing delivery by the private sector or has even been synthesised with a market-based approach³². This obviously risks undermining any benefit that public value could bring to public service delivery. This section now deals with each of these problems in turn. This leads to the development of a series of core principles for the approach which is described here as 'enhanced public value'.

The role of public service staff in generating public value

Staff and feedback

Existing public value approaches severely underestimate the important role staff in the public services play in planning and implementing public service strategies (through providing invaluable feedback mechanisms for management and policy makers), and providing legitimacy and support for public services among users.

This is obviously a serious oversight but reflects a tendency present in market-based approaches as well as public value to understand public service delivery as a relationship between management and user. Staff are often relegated to a passive army that can be ordered to behave in a certain way or will be expected to respond in an entirely predictable fashion to targets, and positive and negative incentives. At worst, market-based approaches caricature staff as the part of the public service structure most resistant to change and, hence, the biggest obstacle to meeting the needs and desires of service users. The fact that public service staff have the closest relationship to users of any part of the structure and are indeed users of services themselves often escapes the notice of the theorists.

Public value is an approach that places a very strong emphasis on the use of dialogue between service providers and users as a way of identifying how public value should be generated by a particular service. For most public value theorists, this means making use of deliberative techniques – such as town hall meetings – to identify consensus on priorities and strategies for change. No doubt, such methods can prove useful for discussing big questions and discovering a community consensus. But as any decent public service manager knows, the identification of priorities and strategies is the easy part of the battle to create efficiency and responsiveness. Effective implementation of a strategy over lengthy periods of time and in the face of daily distractions and practical problems is the tougher call. Without feedback mechanisms to identify and address problems and to assess users' ongoing experience of a changing service, implementation can easily go awry and public value fail to be generated.

Making sure that those who deliver the service and who enter into a daily dialogue with users are engaged in the process of assessing implementation of a strategy is clearly key. Obviously, if the same staff have played a central role in deliberating with management and users on the original priorities and strategies, this will only enhance staff understanding of and commitment to the process thus motivating their role as providing feedback to managers.

This principle is upheld by two examples from public service delivery which show that developing a strategy through engagement between management, staff and users generates greater responsiveness and productivity, and hence public value. Both examples combined users' expectations of a more flexible service with a staff desire for a better work/life balance.

The Time of Our Lives was an ambitious work/life balance project which was set up because Bristol City Council was under pressure to deliver more flexible and accessible services to users and satisfy employee wishes for a better work life balance. It is a good example of 'enhanced public value' — management, users and staff interests have been taken into account and synthesised to generate public value in a way that upholds the best of the public service ethos.

The project involved the TUC, trade unions (GMB, TGWU, and UNISON), the Employers' Organisation for Local Government and the council itself working together in partnership on a European Union-sponsored project which aimed to:

- explore the potential for innovative working patterns that would improve both
 the quality of council services and employees' ability to balance their paid work
 with the rest of their lives
- develop models of partnership between trade unions and employers to enable them jointly to identify better ways of organising work and time
- develop a positive model of flexibility that was win-win for employees, employers and customers
- share experiences of different ways of reconciling work, personal responsibilities and aspirations and access to council services
- widely disseminate lessons learnt.

UNISON suggested a pilot flexible working project in the library service, where staff demoralisation was a problem because of cuts to the staffing budget. A customer survey indicated there was a demand for Sunday opening but employees felt it would be a further incursion on their time.

Employees were surveyed to see who would be willing to work on a Sunday. It was made clear that participation would be voluntary, that no-one would be compelled to continue to work on a Sunday if they volunteered, and that individuals would benefit through the usual additional Sunday payments.

Additional staff were recruited to work on Sundays alongside volunteers from existing staff, many of whom were part-time workers who wanted to increase their hours.

Sunday opening has resulted in a marked increase in library use – not only in quantity but in attracting different library users, especially families.

Moreover, the lessons learned from the project have resulted in similar initiatives being successfully replicated in other departments, including pest control and waste management.

Overall, the project demonstrates that if services are to be made more responsive and effective then involving employees and giving them a large degree of control and autonomy gives a higher chance of success and leads to better outcomes for all stakeholders.

A further example is the Inland Revenue's Our Time project. The Inland Revenue (now merged with customs and renamed Her Majesty's Revenue and Customs) was a huge national public sector organisation with around 70,000 employees.

The pilot project, run in three Inland Revenue offices in the Brighton area, was set up because changed public expectations required a more accessible Inland Revenue with extended opening hours. Moreover, Inland Revenue staff had made clear their desire to have a good balance between work and personal life.

The Our Time project was created as a partnership between the Revenue and PCS – the civil service union. The arrangement gives staff options about their working hours and allows Revenue offices to open outside 9-5 and at weekends.

The initiative resulted in improvements for users and staff, and delivered business benefits for the Inland Revenue. Users benefit from longer and later opening hours, with increased coverage at peak times. Overall the service was able to provide users with a more flexible and accessible service.

Employees are now able to balance their work and personal commitments which is leading to less stress.

The Inland Revenue also enjoyed improved management and staff morale, and increased trust between the Revenue, PCS and the workforce. Crucially, the pilot has provided a process model for the rest of the Inland Revenue and other organisations. Moreover, it has led to better use of IT systems and accommodation, leading to lower unit business costs. There are other benefits as the Revenue now has a wider recruitment pool, given its ability to be a more flexible employer.

Much of the success of the scheme can be traced to the way staff were involved in the design of the scheme. PCS representatives were part of the project team and played a key role in communicating the benefits of the scheme to their colleagues.

The Revenue and the PCS worked together to: find out what staff wanted by using surveys and focus groups; pilot new ways of working at three offices; train managers and staff in organising work to fit into the new arrangements; and train team members how to work together more effectively.

These examples show how an approach which shares key features with a public value approach can deliver real responsiveness to user concerns without losing sight of the core values of public service provision.

Staff and legitimacy

Public value models are not simply about improving responsiveness and efficiency. They have also been proposed as a way of rebuilding the legitimacy of public services by engaging users more directly in the key decisions of service providers. Once again, however, public value approaches seriously limit their likely efficacy in this area by ignoring the staff role.

At the political level, it seems fairly clear that the public simply distrusts government sources. For example, surveys suggest that a minority of people trust official statistics to give an accurate picture of the quality of public services³³.

In a similar vein, people seem to refuse to give the Government credit for improving public services³⁴. As detailed above, one of the most puzzling problems public policymakers have to contend with is the 'delivery paradox' – the gap between positive objective data and the persistence of negative attitudes towards public services. Research suggests that users' satisfaction with their own experience and local services is higher than their satisfaction with public services at the national level³⁵. Furthermore, in certain areas there have been demonstrable increases in investment or increases in staff numbers and improvements in outcomes yet user satisfaction has barely changed.

In contrast to the cynicism about government messages and statistics, citizens are far more receptive to confirmation from public sector staff that services are genuinely improving³⁶. People also seem to appreciate the role of staff in delivering services believing that improvements in public services are the result of staff efforts rather than the Government³⁷. Similarly, analysis of satisfaction levels with public services suggests that treatment by staff and the quality of the explanations and communications provided by those staff are key drivers of public trust³⁸. An Audit Commission/ MORI survey³⁹ asked people which factors were the most important in determining trust in public services. The top two answers were "whether services meet your needs" and "how you are treated by staff".

Therefore, the conclusion must be that as well as planning and delivering better public services that meet the needs of citizens, public service staff are critical to legitimising policy initiatives and the public services themselves by building trust and communicating with citizens. If public value models are serious about re-legitimising public services in the UK, then this data and the role of staff can obviously not be overlooked. Indeed it suggests that staff would have to play the central role in the process of legitimation.

Public value and the core values of public services

There is a tendency among some public value theorists to link the public value approach to market-based models. Although Mark Moore saw public value as a definite counterpoint to new public management theory (the academic approach that spawned market-based models), more recently some UK thinkers have failed to draw the distinction so clearly.

A 2002 Cabinet Office paper on public value drawn up by political advisors to Tony Blair specifically argued that public value could best be maximised through a "combination of strong public sector institutions and competition from private and non-profit organisations"⁴⁰.

The Work Foundation has argued that:

"in the context of the UK debate about who provides public services, public value theory is neutral. Whether the service is delivered by a public or a private sector organisation is either a technical judgement that turns on considerations of efficiency, fairness and accountability, or a political one based on an ideological position about the relative role and size of the state vis-à-vis the market in the delivery of health, education, criminal justice and so on."⁴¹

The quote above illustrates why such an understanding of public value is wrong. The "efficiency, fairness and accountability" that characterise service delivery are far more than a "technical judgement"; they are among the very goals that any approach to public services must seek to deliver. If public value theory genuinely holds that these can effectively be delivered by a market-based solution, then why bother proposing the public value approach in the first place? We need only design ever more sophisticated models of market-based delivery. In this case, public value becomes little more than a desirable extra which might help improve the accountability and public acceptance of market-based solutions.

More fundamentally, this pamphlet has argued in some detail that two-and-a-half decades of experience of market-based approaches and private sector involvement shows that this is precisely not the route to efficiency, fairness and accountability. Indeed, as The Work Foundation studies themselves point out, market-based approaches have often proved detrimental to these values⁴². This detriment is not incidental to the market-based approach but inherent.

The value of the public value approach is that it has identified a potential alternative way of improving public service responsiveness to user needs without recourse to the market and the private sector. And as the argument and the case studies presented here have shown, it may well prove a highly effective approach.

With these two fundamental qualifications in mind, it is proposed here that the public value approach needs to be enhanced by elaborating a series of core principles.

The core principles of public value itself may be articulated as follows:

- engagement with users to determine public service delivery strategies and implementation plans with a precise focus on identifying what public service users and the wider community want a service to generate
- · a commitment to deliberation and negotiation in identifying that public value
- a recognition that any conception of public value must involve not just what a service should deliver but also how it can be delivered in a cost-effective way.

However, to ensure that public value is truly effective as a method of promoting responsiveness and productivity and remains a genuine attempt to uphold the founding values of public services, it is proposed that four more core principles are added to these:

the development of public service delivery strategies and implementation plans
that uphold the founding principles of public services, namely universal access,
delivery according to need, services free at the point of use, and services delivered
for the public good rather than for profit

- the development of public service delivery strategies and implementation plans that preserve the organisational integrity of public services and which value collaboration and integration over competition and fragmentation
- full engagement with public service staff in the determination of strategies and implementation plans
- the establishment of robust feedback mechanisms for staff and users during the implementation and delivery phase of any strategy.

In essence, this approach recognises that if one of the great benefits of the public value approach is to introduce democratic voice into the delivery of public services, then just as liberal rights such as freedom of speech limit what can be done in the name of democracy at a national level, so these core principles limit what can be done in the name of public value within the public services. These limitations are not put in place for ideological reasons but because the evidence is clear that market-based approaches ultimately undermine equitable and efficient public service delivery and hence destroy the generation of public value itself.

This is what is meant by 'enhanced public value'. Its core values are designed to ensure the approach is one which remains true to its aspirations. These values will help create a public value approach that is effective in delivering responsiveness and productivity by recognising the important role of users and staff in determining and implementing strategies and priorities and in legitimising those strategies and priorities; and which recognises that there are core public service values which must be upheld when any process of deliberation to determine those strategies and priorities is underway.

Conclusion

For some, public value may prove a frustrating approach to public service reform. Unlike the market-based approach or even the classical centrally planned approach, its essence cannot be summed up in one sentence. As has been pointed out above, the approach is more about process and the conceptualisation of public service than about formulae and models. However, it should be regarded as none the worse for this. Its very openness could allow a variety of tailored solutions to flourish if it were implemented.

What is genuinely frustrating about public value is its continuing existence in the realm of the abstract. The existence of schemes based self-consciously on public value are few and far between. Like this pamphlet, theorists must resort to drawing on case studies that coincidentally demonstrate one or other aspect of the public value approach.

Having said that, further research is undoubtedly required before a programme of public value pilots or trailblazers could be rolled out across public services in the UK. A comprehensive search for UK examples of public services that have engaged users and staff in designing delivery strategies and/or have managed to deliver highly productive and responsive services must be undertaken. This is important, not least because really effective staff and user engagement must be informed by best practice. Poorly designed or implemented staff and user engagement risks having little impact on actual delivery and can ultimately damage rather than improve legitimacy. There are examples of attempts to understand the nature of good staff and user engagement and some real efforts to put this into practice⁴³ as some of the case studies in this pamphlet have highlighted. But these need to be explored further and developed if the public value approach is to be meaningful.

Such studies should be followed by the establishment of a detailed set of operational principles and benchmarks for public value. These initiatives would do a great deal to add practical flesh to the bones of the approach and provide the confidence and expertise necessary to implement programmes consciously described as public value experiments.

Votes

- 1 See details of the report commissioned by the CBI at: www.cbi.org.uk/pdf/pppnb051207.pdf
- See Gibbons S, Machin S and Silva O, "The Educational Impact of Parental Choice and School Competition", Centrepiece, Winter 2006/7, http://cep.lse.ac.uk/pubs/download/CP216.pdf
- For an overview of debates about how the choice approach to market reform of public services can be more or less effective depending on design, see Burgess S, Propper C and Wilson D, Choice: Will More Choice Improve Outcomes in Education and Healthcare? CPMO, 2008 www.bris.ac.uk/Depts/CMPO/research/choice/choiceindex.htm
 - For a defence against the criticisms of market-based approaches, specifically user choice, see, Le Grand J, The Blair Legacy? Choice and Competition in Public Services, 2006,
 - www.lse.ac.uk/collections/LSEPublicLecturesAndEvents/pdf/20060221-LeGrand.pdf
- 5 It is difficult to measure the productivity of 'non-market' sectors of the economy (one reason being that there isn't an easy measure of value to use in place of price). Economists tended to use growth in input volumes as a proxy for growth in volumes of non-market service industry output and value added. The main components of these input-based measures have been items such as hours worked or costs deflated by wage and other input price indexes. The main disadvantage of using input methods is that they do not reflect changes in output resulting from increased productivity. Therefore, gross value added methods attempt to measure the volume of services produced by public services to get a more realistic picture of the value added to society.
- 6 "New Volume Estimates for Health and Education Services", Australian Bureau of Statistics Year Book 2002 www.yprl.vic.gov.au/cdroms/yearbook2002/cd/wcd00004/wcd004ab.htm
- Arthur Andersen and Enterprise LSE, Value for Money Drivers in the Private Finance Initiative, January 2000
- 8 Gaffney D, Pollock A, Price D, Shaoul J, "The Private Finance Initiative: PFI in the NHS Is there an Economic Case?" British Medical Journal, vol 319, pp 116-9, 1999
- Public Services Not Private Profit campaign, The Case Against Privatisation, www.publicnotprivate.org.uk/resources/booklet.pdf
- 10 House of Commons Health Committee, Independent Sector Treatment Centres, Fourth Report of Session 2005–06, Volume I, www.publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm200506/cmselect/cmhealth/934/934i.pdf
- 11 Commission for Social Care Inspection, The State of Social Care in England 2005-06, www.csci.org.uk/pdf/state_of_social_care_05-06_2.pdf, see 5.16 and 5.43
- 12 Harrington C, Woolhandler S, Mullan J, Carrillo H, Himmelstein DU, "Does Investor Ownership of Nursing Homes Compromise the Quality of Care?", American Journal of Public Health 1452–1455, September 2001, Vol 91, No. 9
- 13 "Councils Turn Backs on Care for Older People", The Guardian, 22 November 2007,
 - www.guardian.co.uk/society/2007/nov/22/longtermcare.socialcare
 - Local Authority Budget Services Survey, Local Government Association, Association of Directors of Social Services/ Society of County Treasurers/Society of Municipal Treasurers, February 2002. There is a more recent survey which has up-to-date figures see http://lga.gov.uk/lga/aio/21738, p6
- 14 Commission for Social Care Inspection (CSCI), Time to Care? An Overview of Home Care Services for Older People in England, October 2006 www.csci.org.uk/PDF/time_care_full.pdf
- 15 Casebourne J, Davis S, and Page R, Department for Work and Pensions Research Report No 328, Corporate Document Services Review of Action Teams for Jobs
- 16 Casebourne J, Davis S, and Page R, Department for Work and Pensions Research Report No 328, Corporate Document Services Review of Action Teams for Jobs

- 17 "Voters tell Government to Work with NHS Staff", TUC, 31 October 2006 www.tuc.org.uk/publicsector/tuc-12582-f0.cfm
 YouGov Survey for UNISON, June 2005, www.keepournhspublic.com/policybriefings.php
- 18 "Campaigners Demand Halt to Privatisation", The Guardian, 27 June 2006, www.guardian.co.uk/politics/2006/jun/27/publicservices.uk1
- 19 The Acute Coordination Centre for the NHS, Acute Patient Survey Programme, The 2006 Inpatients Importance Study, 2006 www.nhssurveys.org/Filestore/documents/Findings_and_development_of_the_2006_inpatients_Importance_study_final.pdf
- www.nnssurveys.org/rilestore/documents/rindings_and_development_or_tne_2006_inpatients_importance_study_rinal.
 20 Presentation by Ben Page, Chairman Ipsos MORI Social Research for Cabinet Office, slide 9 http://archive.cabinetoffice.gov.uk/policy_review/pr_presentation.pdf Slide 9;
 - Blaug, R. Horner, L. Lekhi, R. *Public Value, Citizen Expectations and User Commitment. A Literature Review*, Figure 12: Public attitudes to public services, ICM: July 2004 http://theworkfoundation.com/Assets/PDFs/citizen_lit_review.pdf,
- 21 Blaug, R. Horner, L. Lekhi, R. ibid.
- 22 Moore M, Creating Public Value: Strategic Management in Government, Harvard University Press, 1995
- 23 Benington J., From Private Choice to Public Value? 2007, www.centreforexcellence.org.uk/UsersDoc/John%20 Benington%20-%20From%20Private%20Choice%20to%20Public%20Value.pdf
- 24 Horner L, Lekhi R, and Blaug R, *Deliberative Democracy and Public Value: Final Report of the Work Foundation's Public Value Consortium*, 2006 http://theworkfoundation.com/products/publications/azpublications/publicyaluefinalreport.aspx
- 25 ibid.
- 26 Cole M and Parston G, Unlocking Public Value: A New Model for Achieving High Performance in Public Service Organisations, John Wiley and Sons, 2006
- 27 Research by The Work Foundation exploring public value in various sectors can be found at: http://theworkfoundation.com/products/publicvaluereports.aspx
- 28 Full details of the project can be found at: www.schoolcouncils.org/resources/research/LSSCARP
- 29 Horner L, Lekhi R, and Blaug R, Deliberative Democracy and Public Value: Final Report of the Work Foundation's Public Value Consortium, 2006 http://theworkfoundation.com/products/publications/azpublications/publicyaluefinalreport.aspx
- 30 www.harrow.gov.uk/downloads/Openbudgetfinal.pdf
- 31 Moore M, Creating Public Value: Strategic Management in Government, Harvard University Press, 1995
- 32 Kelly G, Mulgan G, and Muers S, "Creating Public Value An Analytical Framework for Public Service Reform", para 10, Strategy Unit, Cabinet Office, 2002, www.cabinetoffice.gov.uk/upload/assets/www.cabinetoffice.gov.uk/strategy/public_value2.pdf
 - Cole M and Parston G, Unlocking Public Value: A New Model for Achieving High Performance in Public Service Organisations, John Wiley and Sons, 2006; Horner L, Lekhi R, and Blaug R, Deliberative Democracy and Public Value: Final Report of the Work Foundation's Public Value Consortium. 2006
- 33 Blaug R, Horner L, Lekhi R, Public Value, Citizen Expectations and User Commitment. A Literature Review, Figure 1: Public attitudes to public services, ICM: July 2004 http://theworkfoundation.com/Assets/PDFs/citizen_lit_review.pdf
- 34 Blaug R, Horner L, Lekhi R, Public Value, Citizen Expectations and User Commitment. A Literature Review, Figure 1: Public attitudes to public services, ICM: July 2004 http://theworkfoundation.com/Assets/PDFs/citizen_lit_review.pdf
- 35 Mortimore R and Gill M, "New Labour and Delivery", London, MORI, 2004
- 36 Blaug R, Horner L, Lekhi R, Public Value, Citizen Expectations and User Commitment. A Literature Review Figure 1: Public attitudes to public services, ICM: July 2004 http://theworkfoundation.com/Assets/PDFs/citizen_lit_review.pdf
- 37 Blaug R, Horner L, Lekhi R, Public Value, Citizen Expectations and User Commitment. A Literature Review Figure 1: Public attitudes to public services, ICM: July 2004 http://theworkfoundation.com/Assets/PDFs/citizen_lit_review.pdf
- 38 OPSR, Customer Satisfaction with Key Public Services, London, Office of Public Services Reform, 2004
- 39 Audit Commission/MORI, Trust in Public Institutions: New findings, London, Audit Commission, 2003
- 40 Kelly G, Mulgan G, and Muers S, "Creating Public Value: An Analytical Framework for Public Service Reform", para 10, Strategy Unit, Cabinet Office, 2002, www.cabinetoffice.gov.uk/upload/assets/www.cabinetoffice.gov.uk/strategy/public_value2.pdf
- 41 Kelly G, Mulgan G, and Muers S, ibid.; Horner L, Lekhi R, and Blaug R, Deliberative Democracy and Public Value: Final Report of the Work Foundation's Public Value Consortium, 2006
- 42 See analysis and comments in the various reports at: http://theworkfoundation.com/products/publicvaluereports.aspx
- 43 See, for example, the Drive for Change Toolkit (www.driveforchange.org.uk/), Shared Solutions (www.unison.org. uk/PositivelyPublic/sharedsolution.asp) and the report of the NHS Taskforce on Staff Involvement (www.dh.gov.uk/en/Publicationsandstatistics/Publications/PublicationsPolicyAndGuidance/DH_4006143).

If the market can't deliver excellence in public services, what is the alternative? Employing a wealth of evidence and a variety of case studies, Rethinking Public Service Reform shows that there is another way. When users, staff and management work closely together real improvement can result. This is a study for those not entranced by fads in public service delivery but who want to know what actually works.



Trades Union Congress Congress House Great Russell Street London WC1B 3LS

www.tuc.org.uk

© 2008 TUC ISBN 978 1 85006 828 0

£10

For more copies of this title contact our ordering point on 020 7467 1294 or smills@tuc.org.uk

All TUC publications may be made available for dyslexic or visually impaired readers, on request, in an agreed electronic format or in accessible formats such as Braille, audiotape and large print, at no extra cost.

Design: Eureka! Design Consultants

Print: Precision Printing

Cover illustration: Lo Cole/Inkshed